# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-9-2016

# Grove v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43537

#### II. ARGUMENT IN REPLY

#### A. The Court Erred in Dismissing the Confrontation Clause Claims.

1. The court erred in dismissing the direct Confrontation Clause claim.

The State relies upon *Bias v. State*, 159 Idaho 696, 365 P.3d 1050 (Ct. App. 2015), for the proposition that "claims of trial error, even of constitutional dimensions, may not be made for the first time in post-conviction[.]" Brief of Respondent ("State's Brief") p. 6. That is not what *Bias* held. In *Bias*, the petitioner "challenged the prosecutor's trial conduct of demonstrating how his personal cell phone worked and vouching for the credibility of witnesses during closing arguments." *Bias v. State*, 159 Idaho at 703, 365 P.3d at 1057. The Court continued:

The district court noted that even without trial counsel's contemporaneous objection to the prosecutor's conduct, Bias's appellate counsel could have raised the issue on appeal. In his petition, Bias did not present the district court with any evidence that the issue could not, in the exercise of due diligence, have been presented earlier. . . .

. . . . Because Bias presented no evidence as to why the issue could not have been presented on direct appeal, Bias has waived the issue.

Id. Here, by contrast, appellate counsel did attempt to raise the confrontation clause issue on direct appeal but was told by the Court of Appeals that he could not do so. The Court of Appeals held that there was no fundamental error in admitting the evidence regarding Dr. Reichart's report and thus the issue could not be raised for the first time on appeal. It wrote, "Importantly in the context of this case, it is well established that counsel's choice of witnesses, manner of cross-examination, and lack of objection to testimony fall within the area of tactical, or strategic, decisions. With this i[n] mind, we conclude that we cannot ascertain from the record whether Grove's failure to object to Dr. Ross's and Dr. Harper's testimony as to Dr. Reichard's findings

and conclusions was not a tactical decision—the record simply does not eliminate the possibility that the failure to object was strategic." *State v. Grove*, 151 Idaho 483, 492, 259 P.3d 629, 638 (Ct. App. 2011). Here, as has been established, trial counsel's failure to object was not a strategic decision. He admitted in his deposition that there was no strategic reason to permit the introduction of the evidence from the neuropathology report, if it could have been excluded, because it was harmful to the defense case in that it purported to show the injuries must have occurred when K.M. was alone with Stacey. Deposition of Scott Chapman, p. 22, ln. 14-25; pg. 28, ln. 22-25. Thus, this case is easily distinguishable from *Bias*. The I.C. § 19-4901(b) bar on "issue[s] which could have been raised on direct appeal, but w[ere] not," does not apply here because the issue could not have been raised on direct appeal.

But even if the State were correct about the holding of *Bias*, that case would be in conflict with the opinions of the Supreme Court. There are many instances where the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have considered issues which could have with proper objection been raised on direct appeal. These include the following:

- **Violation of plea agreement:** *Berg v. State*, 131 Idaho 517, 519, 960 P.2d 738, 740 (1998) ("Berg asserted that the prosecutor breached the parties' plea agreement by recommending that he be sentenced to prison rather than recommending a retained jurisdiction."); *Short v. State*, 135 Idaho 40, 41, 13 P.3d 1253, 1254 (Ct. App. 2000).
- Violation of the right to testify: Rossignol v. State, 152 Idaho 700, 706, 274 P.3d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2012), review denied (2012) ("[T]he issue of the failure of a defendant to testify may be viewed in post-conviction proceedings either as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or as a claim of a deprivation of a constitutional right."); Cootz v. State, 129 Idaho 360, 924 P.2d 622 (Ct. App. 1996); DeRushé v. State, 146 Idaho 599, 603-04, 200 P.3d 1148, 1152-53 (2009) ("The district court erred in analyzing DeRushé's claim as alleging ineffective assistance of counsel rather than as alleging denial of his constitutional right to testify on his own behalf[.]"); Barcella v. State, 148 Idaho 469, 224 P.3d 536 (Ct.

App. 2009).

- Due process right to participate in defense: *Murillo v. State*, 144 Idaho 449, 452, 163 P.3d 238, 241 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Murillo argues that he was rendered unable to participate in his defense because he had an insufficient opportunity to confer with his trial counsel with the aid of an interpreter and was not provided with copies or oral translations of documents related to his case.")
- Adequacy of plea colloquy: *Noel v. State*, 113 Idaho 92, 94, 741 P.2d 728, 730 (Ct. App. 1987) ("Noel's petition alleged, among other things, that he was not adequately advised by his legal counsel, or by the court, of the 'requisite specific intent to commit murder, nor of the possible consequences of a guilty plea."").
- Suggestiveness of line-up and other issues: Cooper v. State, 96 Idaho 542, 545, 531 P.2d 1187, 1190 (1975) ("He maintains the district court should have investigated through the medium of an evidentiary hearing his application wherein he raised questions as to: (1) the unfair suggestiveness of the lineup; (2) the lack of counsel at the lineup; (3) pleas induced by false statements of counsel; and (4) appellant's mental capacity during the criminal proceedings.")

Thus, the State's reading of *Bias* is in conflict with other Court of Appeals cases and cases from the Supreme Court.

It is well-established that "[s]tatutory interpretation begins with the statute's plain language." Thus, "[w]hen the statute's language is unambiguous, the legislature's clearly expressed intent must be given effect, and we do not need to go beyond the statute's plain language to consider other rules of statutory construction." *State v. Owens*, 158 Idaho 1, 3, 343 P.3d 30, 32 (2015). The plain language of I.C. § 19-4901(b) does not require a showing that "the issue could not, in the exercise of due diligence, have been presented earlier." *Bias v. State*, 159 Idaho at 703, 365 P.3d at 1057. The plain language of the statute only bars claims which could have been raised on appeal from being raised in post-conviction. Therefore, all claims which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Any issue *which could have been raised on direct appeal*, but was not, is forfeited and may not be considered in post-conviction proceedings, unless it appears to the court, on the basis of a substantial factual showing by affidavit, deposition or otherwise, that the asserted basis for

could not be raised on appeal may be raised in post-conviction.

The due diligence requirement only applies when a claim could have been raised on direct appeal but was not and where the asserted basis for relief raises a substantial doubt whether the defendant is guilty of the charge. For example, a claim that the trial court erroneously denied the defendant's motion for DNA testing is a claim that could be raised upon appeal and is presumably waived if it is not. However, if later privately funded DNA testing shows the defendant is actually innocent of the crime and that testing could not have been accomplished earlier, even in the exercise of due diligence, the defendant may raise the DNA funding claim in post-conviction.

Thus, I.C. § 19-4901(b) should be read to only bar issues which were properly objected-to in the trial court but not raised on appeal. Those abandoned claims would need to be raised as part of an ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim under *Mintun v. State*, 144 Idaho 656, 168 P.3d 40 (Ct. App. 2007). As is often noted, post-conviction is not a substitute for appeal but barring issues on post-conviction which the appellate court would not (and in this case expressly did not) consider because of the failure of proper preservation of the claim does not take away from the primacy of direct appeal for the resolution of claims.

The State's argument regarding trial counsel "sandbagging" the court by deliberately not objecting is not reality-based. There is no benefit for trial counsel to lie in the weeds and forego a meritorious trial objection, which even if overruled would be reviewed on appeal under the very favorable *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 16 (1967), standard of review, so that his/her

relief raises a substantial doubt about the reliability of the finding of guilt and could not, in the exercise of due diligence, have been presented earlier." (Emphasis added.)

client years later after the direct appeal can later file a post-conviction petition.

In addition, the State's argument that such claims can be raised as aspects of ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims is inadequate. The argument does not take into account those situations where the law has changed or been clarified since the trial. In those cases, trial counsel's failure to make an objection would not be deficient performance and the defendant could not raise the claim as part of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. For example, it was not deficient performance for defense counsel to fail to object to mandatory life sentences for juveniles prior to the issuance of *Miller v. Alabama*, — U.S. —, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012) (holding such sentences violate the Eighth Amendment). Nevertheless, now that *Montgomery v*. Louisiana, — U.S. —, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016), has declared *Miller* retroactive to cases on collateral review, juveniles serving mandatory life without parole sentences should be able to raise an Eighth Amendment claim. Under the State's view of the statute, that defendant would be barred by I.C. § 19-4901(b) because an Eighth Amendment objection "could have been raised on direct appeal" even absent an objection by trial counsel or even any supporting authority. Thus, the juvenile serving the unconstitutional life without parole sentence would have no remedy. Luckily, the State's statutory interpretation is not supported by the plain language of the text or the case law applying the statute.

To the extent the language, "[a]ny issue which could have been raised on direct appeal," is ambiguous, the legislative history is not helpful in discerning the Legislature's intent. The relevant language was added to I.C. § 19-4901 in 1986 as part of Senate Bill 1263. The available Statement of Purpose for that Bill does not explain whether the Legislature believed that

unpreserved errors can be raised on direct appeal.<sup>2</sup>

Finally, *Bias* misreads *Mintun v. State*, 144 Idaho 656, 168 P.3d 40 (Ct. App. 2007). *Mintun* did not hold "that the proper way for a defendant to challenge an unpreserved trial error is to assert ineffective assistance of trial counsel in a post-conviction proceeding." *Bias v. State*, 159 Idaho at 702, 365 P.3d at 1057. *Mintun* held that it was not ineffective assistance of appellate counsel to fail to raise unpreserved trial error as fundamental error on appeal. *Mintun v. State*, 144 Idaho at 662, 168 P.3d at 46. It noted that one way to raise an unpreserved trial error in post-conviction is by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. It did not hold that it was the only way; nor does the text and structure of the statute permit such an interpretation.

Thus, the Confrontation Clause issue can be raised on post-conviction. Since the State never argues that the evidence was not testimonial under current United States and Idaho Supreme Court case law, this Court should reverse the district court and grant relief.

2. The ineffective assistance for failing to make a Confrontation Clause objection claim.

The State concedes that Stacey may bring an IAC claim based upon trial counsel's failure to object to the evidence from the neuropathology report. State's Brief, p. 7. It defends the district court's dismissal, however, by asserting that "the law as it existed at the time of trial, in July 2008, suggested that a confrontation objection would not have been meritorious." *Id.*, pg. 11. The State supports its assertion by citing to out-of-state cases, one of which suggests the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Bill's Statement of Purpose is at least two pages long. Unfortunately, the copies at both the Idaho Legislative Reference Library and the Idaho State Law Library are only of the first page.

objection would have been sustained<sup>3</sup>, but fails to address the leading Idaho case law at the time of trial, *State v. Hooper*, 145 Idaho 139, 176 P.3d 911 (2007). *Hooper* synthesized *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813 (2006), and held that a statement is testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution, except when the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. *State v. Hooper*, 145 Idaho at 144, 176 P.3d at 916.

Here, it was clear that Dr. Reichard's report was to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. The death was being investigated as a homicide from the beginning. Detectives Birdsell and Green from the Lewiston Police Department, Nez Perce Prosecuting Attorney Dan Spickler, a representative from the Spokane Police Department, and a member of the Spokane County Sheriff's Forensic Unit were all present at the autopsy. Petitioner's Exhibit C (State's Trial Exhibit 11), pg. 12.4 The autopsy report shows Dr. Ross prepared the brain for further examination by a forensic neuropathologist, noting that "[f]urther examination of the brain is pending formlin fixation and neuropathology consultation." *Id*, pg. 9. After the autopsy was completed, Dr. Ross sent Dr. Reichard the email soliciting his services "in doing neuropathology consults." Dr. Ross stated that "[w]e usually obtain neuropathology consults in just about all of our infant and child homicides (or suspected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State's Brief, p. 12, *citing State v. Johnson*, 756 N.W.2d 883 (Minn. App. 2008). *See also, State v. Davidson*, 242 S.W.3d 409,417 (Mo. Ct. App. 2007) (holding autopsy report was a testimonial statement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A copy of the trial exhibits was attached to the Petition and the court admitted copies of the Clerk's Record on appeal, trial transcripts and trial exhibits as post-conviction exhibits. Evidentiary Hearing Transcript ("EH") pg. 87, ln. 20-23.

homicides) and that the expert needed would "require his services as an expert witness in Court," especially in "the infant homicide cases." R 302. Dr. Reichard replied that he "would be interested in providing neuropathology service for your office." He discussed his fees for the examination and report writing noting that "[o]f course, if I have to come testify that is additional." *Id.* Shortly thereafter, the brain was shipped to Dr. Reichard from the Spokane Medical Examiner. R 303. The evidence shows that the primary purpose of Dr. Reichard's consultation was to gather evidence for use in a future criminal trial. Thus, in 2008, the evidence was testimonial per *Crawford*, *Davis* and *Hooper*, and there was favorable out of state authority finding autopsy reports to be testimonial.<sup>5</sup> A Confrontation Clause objection would not be based upon some "novel theory," as claimed by the State. The argument would have been a simple application of settled Idaho law under *Hooper* to the facts of this case.

State v. Abdullah, 158 Idaho 386, 487, 348 P.3d 1, 102 (2015), does not hold that the failure to raise a novel theory cannot be deficient performance, as suggested by the State. State's Brief, p. 12. Abdullah argued that his trial counsel's failure to move for an in camera review of a letter prior to disclosing it constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. The Supreme Court held that the argument had been waived because he had failed to cite any authority in support of his contention. Id. The Court went on to say, in dicta, that "this Court 'will generally not find deficient performance' in such circumstances." Id, citing Schoger v. State, 148 Idaho 622, 630, 226 P.3d 1269, 1277 (2010). But in Schoger, there was Idaho case law supporting trial counsel's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> By 2011, when the direct appeal in this case was decided, at least two other appellate courts had decided that autopsy reports were testimonial. *Martinez v. State*, 311 S.W.3d 104, 111 (Tex. Crim. App. 2010); *United States v. Moore*, 651 F.3d 30, 73 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (per curiam) *affirmed in other part in Smith v. United States*, — U.S —, 133 S.Ct. 714 (2013). The State does not argue the evidence was not testimonial, only that the answer was unclear in 2008.

decision to not raise an argument. *Id.* By contrast here, the logic of *Hooper* compels the conclusion that Stacey's right to confront witnesses was violated.

The State next argues that it was not objectively unreasonable for trial counsel to permit the introduction of the evidence so that he could "poke holes" in it through Dr. Arden's testimony. State's Brief, p. 13; Chapman Deposition, p. 20. But, as explained in the Opening Brief, that decision was based upon shortcomings capable of objective review, the first being it is objectively unreasonable to permit the introduction of highly damaging but excludable evidence. Under the State's theory, defense counsel's "strategic decision" in a heroin trafficking case to not move to suppress the alleged controlled substances found during an illegal search so he could try and poke holes in the expert's opinion about whether the substance was actually heroin could be an objectively reasonable decision. But, of course, that argument is absurd, as there is no reason to poke holes in evidence when it can be excluded, and has been rejected by our Supreme Court. Carter v. State, 108 Idaho 788, 795, 702 P.2d 826, 833 (1985) ("[T]rial counsel's inexplicable failure to object to the introduction of extremely damaging testimony was an error so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the sixth amendment, and thus the first prong of the Strickland test is met.") (Internal quotation marks omitted). See also, Baldwin v. State, 145 Idaho 148, 157, 177 P.3d 362, 371 (2008). (Evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact as to whether search and seizure violated the Fourth Amendment was sufficient to establish *prima facie* showing of trial counsel's deficient performance for failing to move to suppress.)6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State does not separately address the claim that trial counsel's performance was deficient for not making an I.R.E. 703 objection to this evidence. State's Brief, p. 9 ft. 2. The reasons why it was objectively unreasonable to fail to make a Confrontation Clause objection are

Stacey presented a *prima facie* case of IAC for failing to raise the Confrontation Clause issue and the order dismissing it should be reversed.

#### B. The Court Erred in Dismissing the Prosecutorial Misconduct Claim

Again, the State relies upon *Bias v. State* for its argument. However, that case does not control for the reasons already set forth above. Further, this case is distinguishable from *Bias* because appellate counsel both filed affidavits stating why the prosecutorial misconduct issue could not be raised on appeal. Appellate counsel Eric Fredericksen stated: "I did not raise the prosecutorial misconduct issue raised in the Second Cause of Action on direct appeal because trial counsel did not object to the alleged instances of misconduct and thus did not preserve the issue for appeal or the record was not sufficient to raise the issue on appeal." Further, "the issue could not have been raised under the fundamental error doctrine under *State v. Severson*, 147 Idaho 694, 215 P .3d 414 (2009), and *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 245 P.3d 961 (2010)." R 96-97. See also, R 100-101 (Affidavit of Diane Walker). Further, unlike *Bias*, here trial counsel admitted in his deposition and during his testimony at the evidentiary hearings that he did not have strategic reasons to fail to object to many of the instances of misconduct. (This is discussed in detail in the sections on the ineffective assistance of counsel claims which follow.)

### C. The Court Erred in Dismissing Multiple Claims of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

Stacey argued that the trial court erred by dismissing several of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims because it dismissed upon legal theories not advanced by the State, thereby depriving him of due process notice under I.C. § 19-4906(b). In addition, many of the claims

similar to the confrontation clause claim argument. But, this claim is actually stronger because trial counsel could not give any reason for failing to object. Chapman Depo., pg. 32, ln. 20-25. And there is no doubt as to the applicability of I.R.E. 703 to the evidence.

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