## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-6-2016

## Grove v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43537

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

#### ARGUMENT

1

# Grove Has Failed To Demonstrate That The District Court Erred In Summarily Dismissing Claims That Could Have Been Addressed In The Criminal Proceedings

### A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court dismissed the claims of a confrontation violation, prosecutorial misconduct, and denial of due process resulting from allegedly sleeping jurors because no objection to these alleged errors had been raised in the criminal proceedings and therefore they were not properly addressed in post-conviction. (R., pp. 319-342.) Grove argues that there is no bar against raising claims of constitutional error (specifically an alleged confrontation violation and alleged prosecutorial misconduct) for the first time in post-conviction, even if the claims could have been, but were not, raised in the criminal proceedings. (Appellant's brief, pp. 12-14, 25-27.) Grove's argument fails because claims abandoned, waived or forfeited in the criminal proceedings may not be directly raised in post-conviction; rather, the post-conviction petitioner is limited to asserting that the abandonment, waiver or forfeiture of such issues was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### B. Standard Of Review

"On appeal from an order of summary dismissal, we apply the same standards utilized by the trial courts and examine whether the petitioner's admissible evidence asserts facts which, if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief." <u>Caldwell v. State</u>, 159 Idaho 233, \_\_\_\_, 358 P.3d 794, 798 (Ct. App. 2015). "Over questions of law, we exercise free review." <u>Id.</u>

### C. <u>Grove Was Barred From Bringing Claims Of Error That Could Have Been</u> <u>Asserted In The Criminal Proceedings</u>

A proceeding in post-conviction "is not a substitute for nor does it affect any remedy incident to the proceedings, in the trial court." I.C. § 19-4901(b). See also Parrott v. State, 117 Idaho 272, 274, 787 P.2d 258, 260 (1990) ("post conviction relief proceedings are not a substitute for proceedings in the trial court, or of an appeal from the sentence or conviction"); Heartfelt v. State, 125 Idaho 424, 428, 871 P.2d 841, 845 (Ct. App. 1994) ("An application for post-conviction" relief is not a substitute for proceedings in the trial court, or for an appeal from the sentence or conviction."). "Generally, post-conviction relief cannot be used to correct mere errors or irregularities in the proceedings of a trial court which are not jurisdictional and which, at the most, render a judgment merely voidable." Maxfield v. State, 108 Idaho 493, 499, 700 P.2d 115, 121 (Ct. App. 1985) (internal quotes omitted). "[T]he proper way for a defendant to challenge an unpreserved trial error is to assert ineffective assistance of trial counsel in a postconviction proceeding." Bias v. State, 159 Idaho 696, , 365 P.3d 1050, 1057 (Ct. App. 2015) (stating this was the holding of Mintun v. State, 144 Idaho 656, 662, 168 P.3d 40, 46 (Ct. App. 2007)). The Court of Appeals has not held, "even

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An exception to this general rule exists if the petitioner shows both "substantial doubt about the reliability of the finding of guilt" and that the claim "could not, in the exercise of due diligence, have been presented earlier." I.C. § 19-4901(b). Grove does not contend that this exception applies to his claims of constitutional error. (See generally Appellant's brief.)

tangentially, that an unpreserved trial error itself can be raised in a post-conviction proceeding." <u>Id.</u> (upholding dismissal of claims of prosecutorial misconduct asserted for the first time in post-conviction). Contrary to Grove's argument, his claims of trial error, even of constitutional dimensions, may not be made for the first time in post-conviction, and were therefore properly dismissed.

This statutory bar against post-conviction claims that could have been raised in the criminal proceedings is consistent with proscriptions against "sandbagging" employed in other contexts. "[R]equiring a contemporaneous objection prevents the litigant from sandbagging the court, i.e., 'remaining silent about his objection and belatedly raising the error only if the case does not conclude in his favor." State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 224, 245 P.3d 961, 976 (2010) (quoting Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129, 134 (2009)). "No procedural principle is more familiar to this Court than that a right may be forfeited in criminal as well as civil cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it." Puckett, 556 U.S. at 134 (internal quotes and ellipses omitted).

By failing to object at trial, Grove forfeited his claim that certain evidence should have been excluded under the Confrontation Clause; that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct before the jury; and that the trial was in violation of due process because jurors were sleeping during the presentation of evidence. It would invite sandbagging of the worst kind if defense counsel could choose to not object in the trial court because he or she was secure in the knowledge that the objection could always be raised for the first time in post-conviction,

bypassing the fundamental error rule applicable on appeal. Grove's potential remedy is not in raising the claims of error for the first time in post-conviction—rather, his potential remedy is in claiming, and proving, that the forfeitures of claims of errors in the trial court were the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. Grove has failed to show error in the summary dismissal of his confrontation, prosecutorial misconduct, and due process claims.

II.

### Grove Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Summary Dismissal Of All But Four Of The Claims Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel

#### A. Introduction

The district court summarily dismissed all but four of the assertions of ineffective assistance of counsel. (R., pp. 345-53.) On appeal Grove challenges the summary dismissal of 15 of his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, asserting several errors, including that he had presented viable claims, that he was deprived of notice, and that the district court failed to specifically address some claims. (Appellant's brief, pp. 27-40.) Application of relevant legal standards to the record in this case shows no error.

#### B. Standard Of Review

The standard of review is set forth in Section I.B., above.

### C. <u>The District Court Properly Concluded That Most Of Grove's Claims Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Were Subject To Summary Dismissal</u>

Idaho Code § 19-4906 authorizes summary dismissal of an application for post-conviction relief. A claim for post-conviction relief is subject to summary

dismissal "if the applicant's evidence raises no genuine issue of material fact" as to each element of the petitioner's claims. Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 522, 164 P.3d 798, 802 (2007) (citing I.C. § 19-4906(b), (c)). In order to establish a prima facie claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction petitioner must demonstrate both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); State v. Charboneau, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989).

An attorney's performance is not constitutionally deficient unless it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness, and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Gibson v. State, 110 Idaho 631, 634, 718 P.2d 283, 286 (1986); Davis v. State, 116 Idaho 401, 406, 775 P.2d 1243, 1248 (Ct. App. 1989). To establish prejudice, a defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 761, 760 P.2d 1174, 1177 (1988); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 685, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999).

### The District Court Properly Dismissed Grove's Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel For Not Asserting A Confrontation Objection

Grove alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to admission of an autopsy report and testimony that mentioned the result of a neuropathology consultation by a non-testifying pathologist. (R., pp. 163-65 (¶

70).<sup>2</sup>) The district court dismissed the claim, concluding such an objection would not have been meritorious because the pathologist's observations were not "testimonial" as that term is used in the context of the Confrontation Clause. (R., p. 346; see also R., pp. 336-38.) The district court specifically stated that "the issue of whether an autopsy report is testimonial is a matter of first impression in Idaho," that counsel's choice to not object might have been tactical (and that lack of objection is a tactical decision), and that "any objection to the testimony would have been overruled." (R., pp. 336-38.) Application of the relevant legal standards shows no error by the district court.

The Confrontation Clause prevents the government from using evidence of out-of-court testimonial statements unless the declarant is unavailable and the defendant has had the prior opportunity for cross-examination. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 59 (2004); State v. Hooper, 145 Idaho 139, 143, 176 P.3d 911, 915 (2007). The primary evil at which the Clause is aimed is the government's gathering of ex parte evidence with the purpose of using that evidence at a later trial. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 50-52; Hooper, 145 Idaho at 143, 176 P.3d at 915. A statement is testimonial when the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement objectively show that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to gather evidence for use in prosecution. Davis v. Washington,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Grove argues that trial counsel should have objected to this evidence on both confrontation and I.R.E. 703 grounds. (Appellant's brief, pp. 28-33.) Because the same tactical reasons for non-objection apply to both, the state adopts its argument regarding confrontation as its argument regarding why it was not deficient performance to not object on other grounds as well. The state will address below the claim the court erred by not specifically addressing this claim.

547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006); <u>Hooper</u>, 145 Idaho at 143-44, 176 P.3d at 915-16. Thus, statements made in response to police questioning while police are investigating a crime are testimonial, but statements made to police or their agents while the declarant is seeking emergency assistance are not. <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 822; <u>Hooper</u>, 145 Idaho at 143-44, 176 P.3d at 915-16. Likewise, "[s]tatements to friends and neighbors about abuse and intimidation, and statements to physicians in the course of receiving treatment" are not testimonial. <u>Giles v. California</u>, 554 U.S. 353, 376 (2008).

The evidence admitted at the criminal trial relevant to this issue is as follows: A 17-page autopsy report authored by Dr. Ross, a pathologist who did testify at trial, included the following:

- E. neuropathology consultation (University of New Mexico; Albuquerque, NM)
  - 1. acute cerebral subdural hemorrhage, bilateral
  - 2. acute cerebral subarachnoid hemorrhage, bilateral
  - 3. brain swelling with tonsillar herniation
  - 4. corpus callosum laceration
  - 5. global hypoxic-ischemic brain injury
  - 6. widespread vascular axonal injury
  - 7. autolysis ("respirator brain" or non-perfused brain changes)

(#36211 Exhibit 11.) Dr. Ross testified that, pursuant to standard practices, he sent K.M.'s brain for examination by a neuropathologist, Dr. Reichard. (Trial Tr., vol. II, p. 900, L. 15 - p. 901, L. 7; p. 927, L. 21 - p. 928, L. 20.) He testified that Dr. Reichard's examination showed bilateral subdural hemorrhage, bilateral subarachnoid hemorrhage, a tear in the corpus callosum, hypoxic-ischemic injury, vascular axonal injuries, and autolytic changes. (Trial Tr., vol. II, p. 928, L. 21 - p. 929, L. 15.) He defined those terms and explained the significance of the

presence of some of those injuries. (Trial Tr., vol. II, p. 928, L. 21 – p. 930, L. 23.) The seven observations listed above are the total of Dr. Reichard's statements admitted as evidence. (R., pp. 320-22 (district court's findings discussing evidence; noting that other testifying doctors relied on Dr. Ross's report but did not testify as to its contents; and that "only a portion" of Dr. Reichard's report was "incorporated in to Dr. Ross's Autopsy Report").)

As noted by the district court, the question of whether an autopsy report is testimonial is a matter of first impression in Idaho. Moreover, the law as it existed at the time of trial, in July 2008, suggested that a confrontation objection would not have been meritorious. See, e.g., United States v. De La Cruz, 514 F.3d 121, 133 (1st Cir. 2008) (report memorializing what medical examiner "saw and did during an autopsy" is "in the nature of a business record, and business records are expressly excluded from the reach of *Crawford*"); Sauerwin v. State, 214 S.W.3d 266, 270 (Ark. 2005) ("the defendant's confrontation right extends to the testifying expert witness, not to those who do not testify but whose findings or research merely form the basis for the witness's testimony" (internal quotes omitted)); Com. v. Nardi, 893 N.E.2d 1221, 1230 (Mass. 2008) ("The fact that Dr. McDonough's expert opinion on the cause of Barchard's death was based, in large part, on findings made during the course of an autopsy that he did not perform does not infringe on Nardi's right to confrontation concerning this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Grove's counsel acknowledges that cases decided after the trial "[do] not apply given the ineffective assistance of counsel claim looks back to see what a reasonably competent attorney would have done at the time." (Appellant's brief, p. 28 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689).)

issue."); People v. Freycinet, 892 N.E.2d 843, 846 (N.Y. 2008) ("autopsy report was clearly not testimonial"); But see State v. Johnson, 756 N.W.2d 883 (Minn. App. 2008). Given the lack of controlling authority, and the at best split in persuasive authority, it is clear that counsel's decision to forgo objecting was not based on ignorance of the law or any other objective shortcoming. Furthermore, the district court's conclusion that the objection would have been overruled is supported.

Even if trial counsel could have prevailed on this objection, such alone does not support a prima facie claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. It is well established that the "lack of objection to testimony fall[s] within the area of tactical, or strategic, decisions." Giles v. State, 125 Idaho 921, 924, 877 P.2d 365, 368 (1994). "A court considering a claim of ineffective assistance must apply a 'strong presumption' that counsel's representation was within the 'wide range' of reasonable professional assistance." Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). "When evaluating an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, this Court does not second-guess strategic and tactical decisions, and such decisions cannot serve as a basis for post-conviction relief unless the decision is shown to have resulted from inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law or other shortcomings capable of objective review." State v. Payne, 146 Idaho 548, 561, 199 P.3d 123, 136 (2008). Moreover, because there was no controlling authority it was not deficient performance to elect not to present a novel legal theory. State v. Abdullah, 158 Idaho 386, 487, 348 P.3d 1, 102 (2015). Grove's claim of deficient performance fails for lack of any evidence suggesting that counsel's lack of objection was based on any objective shortcoming.

Grove's trial counsel, Scott Chapman, testified that he did not object to admission of evidence regarding Dr. Reichard's report because he thought his expert could demonstrate that "reliance on that report [was] misplaced" and because he wanted to avoid the possibility that Dr. Reichard would be called as a live witness. (Chapman Depo., p. 19, L. 14 – p. 20, L. 5 (Augmentation).) Grove claims that this reasoning and the tactical decision to not object was (Appellant's brief, p. 31.4) "unreasonable." His subjective claim of unreasonableness ignores, however, that his burden is to show "that counsel's representation 'fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 476 (2000) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688) (emphasis added). To meet this objective standard Grove must show the decision "resulted from inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law or other shortcomings capable of objective review." Payne, 146 Idaho at 561, 199 Grove failed to present a prima facie claim of an objective P.3d at 136. shortcoming by trial counsel below. His appellate argument simply ignores his burden to show an objective shortcoming. He has therefore failed to show error.

-

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